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Application Number

:

CS-22-04

Site Plan Title

:

American Holly Solar

Present Zoning District

:

AC (Agricultural Conservation)

Present Use

:

Agricultural & Residential

Proposed Use

:

Same with Public Utility
(Solar Energy Generating Facility)

Area and Location

:

151.08 ± total acres (Conditional Use Area 25.58 +
acres) located on the south side of Burnite Mill Road,
and approx. 1,288 ft. west of Hopkins Cemetery
Road, west of Felton

The applicant is seeking conditional use approval for a public utility solar facility to encompass
25.58+ acres. This proposal is neither a Utility Scale Facility nor a Community Energy Generating
Facility as defined by Kent County Solar Ordinance 22-05 because the project is not located in the
service territory of a utility under the regulation of the Public Service Commission. Further, it does
not meet the definition of a Utility Scale Facility because it will not sell power directly into the PJM
power grid. This project is being developed in partnership with Delaware Electric Cooperative (DEC)
and is specifically sized to supplement the energy consumption of homes and businesses that are
serviced by the DEC distribution network.
REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
The Regional Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend conditional approval of application
CS-22-04 a conditional use site plan for a Public Utility/Public Utility Use located outside the Growth Zone
Overlay District. This is based on Exhibit A – Staff Recommendation Report dated September 1, 2022,
Exhibit B – Public Hearing Testimony dated September 1, 2022, and the findings of fact that:
a. The subject site is zoned AC (Agricultural Conservation) and §§205-48 and 205-329 permit
public utilities and public utility uses as a conditional use.
KENT COUNTY COMPLEX
555 Bay Road
Dover, DE 19901
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b. The location is appropriate and not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan.
c. The public health, safety and general welfare will not be adversely affected.
Pursuant to Chapters 187 and 205 of the Kent County Code and pursuant to 9Del.C. §§4802 and 4811, the
Commission has reviewed the application and the September 1, 2022 Staff Recommendation Report, and,
furthermore as part of this approval, the applicant shall comply with all Staff and Agency Requirements as
described in the September 1, 2022 Staff Recommendation Report.
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.

i.

j.
k.

l.

The waiver from §187-60 requiring frontage sidewalk is granted.
The waiver from §187-74(D) requiring tree planting in nonwoodlands is granted.
The waiver from §187-79(A) requiring visual screening against residential uses is granted.
Two rows of trees as required by §205-397.9.E to complete the buffer around the facility is
recommended rather than relying upon existing trees not located on the subject site.
There shall be no artificial lighting on site.
The perimeter fence shall be 7 feet in height.
If topsoil is removed for improvements, it shall remain on the site.
Noninvasive, perennial vegetative ground cover with consideration for pollinators must be
maintained or established in all areas containing solar arrays and in required setbacks to prevent
erosion and manage run-off. A seed mix shall be used to promote the growth of a ground cover
that is favorable to future use of the land by animals. The height of the vegetation growth shall
be maintained as to reduce the possibility of the airborne spreading of weeds and seeds
transmitted to other adjacent lands.
A soils study establishing the presence of any contaminants shall be completed prior to
construction and every five (5) years thereafter. Surface soil samples shall be collected from the
first six inches (6”) of soil. One composite sample should be collected every five (5) acres of SEF
footprint. The composite sample should be a maximum of 10 aliquots collected from evenly
spaced locations throughout the 5-acre footprint. A baseline sample shall be collected prior to the
start of the SEF construction. The composite sample should be analyzed for the primary
component of the installed solar panel via the prevailing EPA method for Inorganic Compounds.
A letter report of findings shall be submitted within 45 days from receipt of the laboratory results
to the County and shall include a summary table showing current and past results and the original
certified laboratory results. A sketch showing the sample locations should be provided with the
letter report. The full report shall be kept on file by the applicant and available for review by the
County. If contaminate levels appear to exceed the baseline, the County will forward the report
to DNREC to determine appropriate mitigation measures. If the 5-year and 10-year tests do not
show material increase in the metal constituents tested, then testing interval may be extended to
every 10 years.
The applicant is proposing signage, not to exceed six (6) square feet, identifying the operator, its
contact numbers, and emergency contact information to be posted at the entrance to the facility
on the surrounding site fence.
If the solar utility does not produce energy for a continuous period of one year or more, it shall
be presumed to have been abandoned. The applicant may request a Good Cause Exemption that
may not be unreasonably withheld so long as all Real Estate and Personal Property Taxes are in
Good Standing. If the solar utility is abandoned without obtaining a Good Cause Exemption, it
must be decommissioned and removed within 180 days. Decommissioning must consist of:
Physical removal of all solar photovoltaic facilities, structures, equipment, security barriers and
transmission lines from the site.
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m. Recycling or disposal of all solid and hazardous waste in accordance with local, state and federal
regulations.
n. Stabilization or revegetation of the site as necessary to minimize erosion. The Planning Director
shall be authorized to allow the owner or operator to leave landscaping or designated below-grade
foundations in place in order to minimize erosion and disruption to vegetation.
o. The applicant shall submit a Decommissioning Plan outlining the anticipated means and costs of
removing the solar facility. The Decommissioning Plan shall ensure that the owner or operator
properly removes the equipment and facilities upon the end of the project life or after their useful
life. The plan shall include provisions for the removal of all structures and foundations, the
removal of all electrical transmission components and the restoration of soil and vegetation and/or
agriculture. In addition to a Decommissioning Plan, the owner/operator shall provide a presentday decommissioning cost estimate and identify the parties responsible for decommissioning.
p. Prior to final plan approval, the operator or property owner shall provide a bond, surety, letter of
credit, or other financial assurance in a form and amount acceptable to the Department of
Planning Services to secure payment of one hundred percent (100%) of the anticipated cost of
removal of all associated site improvements and restoration of the site to its predevelopment
condition. The financial assurance shall remain in full force and effect as long as the solar facility
remains in place. The financial assurance shall be reviewed and renewed every five (5) years to
ensure the amount reflects the current market.
q. The final plan must be approved within 24 months of preliminary plan approval and construction
shall commence within 18 months of final plan approval.
r. Failure to comply with the conditions of approval or applicable regulations can result in a
revocation of any permits issued for this conditional use and a revocation of the conditional use
itself.
I.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends CONDITIONAL APPROVAL based on the information submitted as the
application demonstrates compliance with the conditions for approval as outlined in Kent County
Code §205-329 Public Utilities and Uses.
A.

Code Requirements:
1.
A flood elevation certificate must be provided for any solar panels that are located
within the floodplain.
2.
A final plan must be approved within 24 months of preliminary plan approval and
construction must commence within 18 months of final plan approval.
3.
Prior to final plan approval, all outside agency requirements must be met.
4.
The Levy Court may add any necessary conditions to protect the health, safety, and
welfare of the citizens of Kent County.

B.

Staff Recommendations:
1.
If topsoil is removed for improvements, it shall remain on the site.
2.
Noninvasive, perennial vegetative ground cover must be maintained or established in
all areas containing solar arrays and in required setbacks to prevent erosion and
manage run-off. A seed mix shall be used to promote the growth of a ground cover
that is favorable to future use of the land by animals. The height of the vegetation
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3.

4.

5.

6.

growth shall be maintained as to reduce the possibility of the airborne spreading of
weeds and seeds transmitted to other adjacent lands.
A soils study establishing the presence of any contaminants shall be completed prior
to construction and every five (5) years thereafter. Surface soil samples shall be
collected from the first six inches (6”) of soil. One composite sample should be
collected every five (5) acres of SEF footprint. The composite sample should be a
maximum of 10 aliquots collected from evenly spaced locations throughout the 5acre footprint. A baseline sample shall be collected prior to the start of the SEF
construction. The composite sample should be analyzed for the primary component
of the installed solar panel via the prevailing EPA method for Inorganic Compounds.
A letter report of findings shall be submitted within 45 days from receipt of the
laboratory results to the County and shall include a summary table showing current
and past results and the original certified laboratory results. A sketch showing the
sample locations should be provided with the letter report. The full report shall be
kept on file by the applicant and available for review by the County. If contaminate
levels appear to exceed the baseline, the County will forward the report to DNREC
to determine appropriate mitigation measures. If the 5-year and 10-year tests do not
show material increase in the metal constituents tested, then testing interval may be
extended to every 10 years.
The applicant is proposing signage, not to exceed six (6) square feet, identifying the
operator, its contact numbers, and emergency contact information to be posted at the
entrance to the facility on the surrounding site fence. In keeping with the requirements
of Kent County Solar Ordinance 22-05, Staff recommends that a sign be placed at the
site entrance off Burnite Mill Road.
If the solar utility does not produce energy for a continuous period of one year or
more, it shall be presumed to have been abandoned. The applicant may request a
Good Cause Exemption that may not be unreasonably withheld so long as all Real
Estate and Personal Property Taxes are in Good Standing. If the solar utility is
abandoned without obtaining a Good Cause Exemption, it must be decommissioned
and removed within 180 days. Decommissioning must consist of:
a) Physical removal of all solar photovoltaic facilities, structures, equipment,
security barriers and transmission lines from the site.
b) Recycling or disposal of all solid and hazardous waste in accordance with local,
state and federal regulations.
c) Stabilization or revegetation of the site as necessary to minimize erosion. The
Planning Director shall be authorized to allow the owner or operator to leave
landscaping or designated below-grade foundations in place in order to
minimize erosion and disruption to vegetation.
The applicant shall submit a Decommissioning Plan outlining the anticipated means
and costs of removing the solar facility. The Decommissioning Plan shall ensure that
the owner or operator properly removes the equipment and facilities upon the end of
the project life or after their useful life. The plan shall include provisions for the
removal of all structures and foundations, the removal of all electrical transmission
components and the restoration of soil and vegetation and/or agriculture. In addition
to a Decommissioning Plan, the owner/operator shall provide a present day
decommissioning cost estimate and identify the parties responsible for
decommissioning.
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7.

II.

Prior to final plan approval, the operator or property owner shall provide a bond,
surety, letter of credit, or other financial assurance in a form and amount acceptable
to the Department of Planning Services to secure payment of one hundred percent
(100%) of the anticipated cost of removal of all associated site improvements and
restoration of the site to its predevelopment condition. The financial assurance shall
remain in full force and effect as long as the solar facility remains in place. The
financial assurance shall be reviewed and renewed every five (5) years to ensure the
amount reflects the current market.

WAIVER REQUEST
The Commission may waive or modify the requirements of Chapter 187 by following these guidelines
(§187-80):
• Strict compliance with the requirements of this chapter would result in extraordinary hardship
to the applicant;
• Is not self-imposed, or;
• That these conditions would result in inhibiting the achievement of the objectives of these
regulations;
• Will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of this chapter;
• Will not be contrary to the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan;
• Shall not be more than a minimum easing of the requirements;
• Shall not result in conflict with Chapter 205, Zoning.
A. Sidewalks
The applicant has requested a waiver from Kent County Code Section 187-60(A), which requires
the installation of a sidewalk along the frontage of Burnite Mill Road. The applicant’s waiver
request is based on the following: There is not a sidewalk on this section of road along the
frontage of the adjoining properties or across the street. Construction of a sidewalk will reduce
the amount of area available for agricultural operations, which is the dominating characteristic
of this parcel and this area. Sidewalk, if constructed, would likely be subject to damage from the
agricultural operations. Furthermore, the solar farm will have a security fence with a locked gate
and no public access will be permitted.
The subject site is located outside of the County’s Growth Zone and the area in the immediate
vicinity of the site is not expected to develop in a manner that would generate pedestrian traffic.
In addition, public utility uses are not accessible to the general public, so there will be no foot
traffic into the facility. As such, Staff recommends that this waiver be APPROVED.
B. Tree Planting Requirements in Nonwoodlands
The applicant also seeks a waiver of Kent County Code Section 187-74(D), which requires new
trees to be planted at a rate of one tree per 3,000 square feet of site area for nonresidential land
development in nonwoodland portions of development tracts. A conditional use site area of 25.58
+ acres requires the planting of 372 trees. The applicant is proposing to plant 192 trees and offers
the following as a basis for the waiver request: The parcel will be leased by American Holly Solar
Farm, LLC, from the property owner for 25-35 years. The intention of the project is to leave as
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much agricultural space possible for the property owner to maintain their agricultural operations
during the lease period. The tree planting requirements per County Code would require
additional trees to be planted that would reduce the amount of agricultural space. The number
of trees required will also place a financial burden on the developer in terms of initial planting,
maintenance, and potential replacement. The project is bounded on the sides and rear by existing
trees/woodlands that will not be disturbed by project development. Approximately 68 acres of
trees in the rear and west of the project are located in a Thirty-Year Warranty Easement Deed
between the landowner and U.S. National Resources Conservation Service of the U.S.
Department of Agriculture. The deed is intended to restore, protect, manage, maintain, and
enhance the wetlands. With the combined existing wetlands and the proposed trees as shown on
the landscaping plan, the parcel will have a tree density of 43%.
This application is being processed as a conditional use based solely on the project’s partnership
with Delaware Electric Cooperative (DEC) which does not fall under the regulation of the Public
Service Commission. If this application were to be processed under the County’s Solar
Ordinance, there would not be a requirement to plant a minimum number of trees based on the
size of the development area. Further, the plan partially meets the landscaped buffer requirements
of the Solar Ordinance, which requires a minimum of two staggered rows of 6’ high evergreen
trees spaced 20’ apart within the same row and 10’ apart from the adjacent staggered row. As
such, Staff recommends that this waiver be APPROVED.
C. Buffer Requirements
Finally, the applicant seeks a waiver of Kent County Code Section 187-79(A), which requires
visual and sound screening to be provided on nonresidential use properties (other than
agriculture) when abutting a residential use. The basis for the applicant’s waiver request is as
follows: The project parcel has residential use properties to the east and west. A landscape buffer
is proposed on the west side where no existing vegetation is present. Where the landscape buffer
is not proposed, the existing woods will act as the buffer. This wooded lot is in a conservation
easement that does not allow removal of any trees. The east side of the site will utilize existing
trees and woods that are on the adjoining parcel. The woods and trees are mature mixed
hardwoods.
Regardless of how the application is processed - whether as a Public Utility Conditional Use or
a Community Energy-Generating Facility - the intent of the Code is to buffer the solar facility
from residential uses in order to provide visual and sound screening. While the plan includes the
two rows of trees along part of the project boundary as required by the recently adopted solar
ordinance, the eastern boundary is not buffered on-site. Instead, the applicant is relying upon trees
located on an adjacent property. Staff recommends approval of the waiver from §187-79(A) but
also that the applicant provide the two rows of trees on the subject site.
IV.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
•

The 151.08 ± acre subject site is currently improved with two dwellings and two residential
detached garages. The project consists of a fenced solar array field encompassing approximately
25.58 + acres. There are approximately 67.3 + acres of forested wetlands on the subject site.
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•

The proposed solar facility will be accessed via a gravel access lane from Burnite Mill Road.

•

The character of the surrounding area is predominantly agricultural and residential in nature. The
subject site is surrounded on all sides by AC (Agricultural Conservation) zoning.

•

Although not required for a Public Utility Conditional Use, the plan meets the increased setbacks
for a Community Energy Generating Facility located within the AC zoning district, outside of the
Growth Zone, as follows:
Front:
Side:
Rear:
Distance from off-site dwellings:
Distance from wetlands:

V.

100’
50’
50’
150’
100’

AGENCY COMMENTS
A.

DELAWARE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Contact: Joshua J. Schwartz (302)760-2768
Comment:
1. The access shall follow 8.5 MISCELLANEOUS ENTRANCES from the DelDOT
Development Coordination Manual.

B.

KENT COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
Contact: Brian L. Hall, Engineering Project Manager II (302)744-2430
Comment:
1. The Engineering Division grants “Approval, With no Objection to Recordation.”

C.

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES & ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL
DIVISION OF FISH & WILDLIFE
Contact: Danielle Ellis, Environmental Review Coordinator (302)223-2446
Delaware Ecological Network
Habitat within the project area has been identified as ecologically important by the Delaware
Ecological Network (DEN). The DEN, although non-regulatory, is a statewide conservation
network developed using GIS and field collected datasets that help to identify and prioritize
ecologically important areas for natural resource protection. The DEN includes ecologically
important areas such as forests, wetlands, streams, habitat that supports rare species and areas
or especially high quality. The DEN includes the following key elements: 1) core areas –
contain relatively intact natural ecosystems, and provide high quality habitat for native plants
and animals, 2) hubs – slightly fragmented aggregations of core areas, plus contiguous natural
cover, and 3) corridors - link core areas together, allowing wildlife movement and seed and
pollen transfer between them.
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Wetland Buffer
Buffers are an integral component of aquatic and wetland habitats, reducing the amount of
sediments, pollutants, and other non-point source material that may affect the function and
integrity of habitat and the condition and survivability of aquatic organisms. Forested buffers
serve as habitat for many terrestrial species that are dependent on aquatic and wetlands
habitats for a portion of their annual life cycle.
In the interest of water quality and wildlife habitat, we recommend maintaining an upland
buffer of at least 100 ft. along rivers, streams, and wetlands. This recommendation is based
on peer reviewed research that suggests that buffer values increase noticeably with widths of
100 ft. or more. This buffer should not be a maintained lawn area and should not contain
infrastructure. We recommend the buffer area be comprised of the existing vegetation or
planted with Delaware native species of trees, shrubs, grasses or wildflowers.
Native Vegetation
We request that no invasive species or state-rare species be used in the disturbed areas. We
further recommend that the applicant re-vegetate the area using native plant species that are
indigenous to the state of Delaware and are appropriate for the site. Our staff botanist, Bill
McAvoy (William.Mcavoy@delaware.gov) can provide guidance in selecting plant material.
Solar Facility
Solar – Wildlife Interactions
Solar energy is one of the primary renewable energy resources in Delaware and will play a
pivotal role in the Delaware Climate Action Plan initiative to achieve 40% renewable energy
by 2035. While we acknowledge the importance of solar energy, the development, operation,
and maintenance of solar facilities have known and potential impacts on wildlife, including
direct mortality, habitat fragmentation and associated barriers to gene flow, microclimate
alteration, and predator attraction. Further research is needed to understand cumulative
impacts and long-term solar-wildlife interactions to develop standardized methods and best
management practices for assessing costs and benefits to wildlife. Until these impacts are
better understood, and guidance is developed, it is imperative projects are carefully planned
and their environmental impacts thoroughly evaluated so that wildlife, habitat, key corridors,
and unique wild lands and natural resources are not substantially altered, impacted, or
destroyed.
Facility Infrastructure
We recommend the following facility infrastructure considerations to reduce potential
impacts to wildlife:
•

To prevent entangling and killing small wildlife, install biodegradable, natural fiber,
non-plastic, wildlife-friendly sediment and erosion control devices prior to any land
clearing.

•

Avoid construction and staging, including servicing and fueling of equipment, within
150 meters of aquatic and riparian habitats. Ensure all sediments and other pollutants
are contained within the boundaries of the work area. Disturbed areas that are
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contributing sediment to surface waters as a result of project activities should be
promptly re-vegetated to maintain water quality.
•

Power lines pose a risk to many species of birds from death by collision and
electrocution. Site projects in close proximity to substations or other points of tie-in
to the existing energy grid to reduce the construction of new power lines. If additional
overhead transmission lines will be installed, measures to minimize impacts to birds
should be implemented. These measures can include increasing line visibility,
insulating wires to cover exposed connections, and increasing the distance between
wires so no contact with ground or other energized wire can be made. Burying
transmission lines between facilities and substations will further reduce risks.

•

Solar panels should be at least 2-3 feet above the ground to ensure options for habitat
management and lessen impacts from tractors and other maintenance equipment.

•

Artificial lighting can have negative impacts to wildlife, including changing behavior
and land use, disorienting wildlife, and potential increases in risk of mortality. Lights
should be installed such that lamps and reflectors have cut-off shields and use downlighting, so the direct lighting does not illuminate the nighttime sky and is not visible
from beyond the project site. All lighting should be of minimum necessary brightness
consistent with operation safety and security. Use lights with automatic controls such
as timers, photosensors, or motion detectors.

•

Security fencing should be designed with open fencing or with small openings for
small mammals and game birds to move under or through the fenced area. We
recommend using 3-4 strand smooth fencing (commonly known as deer fence)
without barbed wire. Fencing should be 8-10 feet high to ensure deer to not attempt
to jump the fence and risk entanglement injuries. If deer become entrapped, having
gates on multiple sides of the fenced perimeter can allow for easier egress. Also
consider how fencing may unintentionally alter larger wildlife travel corridors or
redirect wildlife onto roadways and avoid such designs.

Pollinator Habitat
Planting native pollinator plants at solar facilities will not only create early successional
habitat for pollinators and a variety of wildlife, but will also aid in reducing soil erosion,
protect water quality, and enhance the aesthetic beauty of a site. In addition, creating
pollinator habitat will benefit the solar developer by reducing maintenance costs associated
with mowing and spraying around the panels, as well as benefit neighboring farms by
supporting insects that pollinate agricultural crops.
We recommend using a native pollinator seed mix that includes a variety of herbaceous plants
and grasses in the mix. Preferably, we recommend selecting species that are indigenous to
the state of Delaware, but if one finds it difficult to hold to this standard, then select species
native to the Mid-Atlantic Region (Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, New York,
Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia). Identifying soil types that occur on a project site
will help to select species that are well suited to the site and will thrive into the future. Our
staff botanist (Bill McAvoy) can assist in developing seed mixes for a particular site. In
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addition, to avoid disturbance to grassland birds that may be nesting at the site, we
recommend mowing not occur from April 1st – July 31st.
Stranded or Injured Wildlife
Wildlife, including big game, raptors, and waterbirds, can become stranded or injured within
the facility or while navigating infrastructure. Facility operators should immediately notify
and coordinate with the Delaware Council of Wildlife Rehabilitators and Educators
(dewildliferescue.com) for assistance with injured wildlife or contact a Nuisance Wildlife
Control Operator (wildlifehelp.org) for removal of stranded wildlife.

VI.

OWNER/DEVELOPER
The owner/developer shall be aware of and be prepared to comply with all comments regarding this
project stated in this report. All comments must be addressed in the final plan prior to final approval.
Final approval of the plan must occur within 24 months from the date of preliminary plan approval.
Failure to obtain final approval shall nullify the plan. Letters of “No Objection to Final Approval”
from the following agencies will be required prior to final approval:
1.
2.
3.

DelDOT, Division of Highways
Kent Conservation District
Office of the State Fire Marshal

This recommendation was made without the benefit of public testimony and is based on the
information presented when the application was received by the Department of Planning Services.
The Regional Planning Commission shall give considerable weight to public testimony received
during public hearing in considering its recommendation to Levy Court in this matter.
ENC: Data Sheet
Exhibit A – Location and Zoning Map
Exhibit B
Letter from Engineer dtd. 7/13/22
Preliminary Site Plan
RPC Public Hearing Testimony
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DATA SHEET FOR CONDITIONAL USE WITH SITE PLAN
Regional Planning Commission Public Hearing of: Thursday, September 1, 2022
Regional Planning Commission Business Meeting of: Thursday, September 8, 2022
Levy Court Public Hearing of: Tuesday, September 27, 2022
Application / Title

:

CS-22-04 / American Holly Solar

Applicant

:

American Holly Solar Farm, LLC
c/o Yannick Tamm
6940 Columbia Gateway, Ste 400
Columbia, MD 21046

Owner

:

Robert Parnell
P.O Box 3
Felton, DE 19943

Engineer

:

Century Engineering, LLC
c/o Alex Schmidt, PE
550 Bay Road
Dover, DE 19901

Comprehensive Plan Map Designation

:

Low Density Residential

Present Zoning District

:

AC (Agricultural Conservation District)

Relation to Growth Zone

:

Outside

Present Use

:

Agricultural & Residential

Proposed Use

:

Same with Public Utility
(Solar Energy Generating Facility)

Conditional Use Area

:

The conditional use area consists of
approximately 25.58 fenced acres containing

KENT COUNTY COMPLEX
555 Bay Road
Dover, DE 19901
(Handicapped Accessible)

CS-22-04 American Holly Solar
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a solar array spanning approximately 6.5
acres.
Levy Court District

:

6th - Howell

School District

:

Lake Forest

Fire District

:

Felton

Area and Location

:

151.08 ± total acres (Conditional Use Area
25.58 + acres) located on the south side of
Burnite Mill Road, approximately 3,252 ft.
east of Black Swamp Road, and
approximately 1,288 ft. west of Hopkins
Cemetery Road, west of Felton

Property Identification Number

:

SM-00-137.00-01-26.00-000

Kent County
Levy Court

LOCATION AND ZONING MAP
Exhibit A

Application: CS-22-04
American Holly Solar Farm, LLC (Parnell)
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LOCATION: 151.08 ± total acres
(Conditional Use Area 25.58 + acres)
located on the south side of Burnite
Mill Road, approximately 3,252 ft. east
of Black Swamp Road, and
approximately 1,288 ft. west of
Hopkins Cemetery Road, west of
Felton
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Exhibit B

Application: CS-22-04
American Holly Solar Farm, LLC (Parnell)

PROPOSED PUBLIC UTILITY (SOLAR ENERGY GENERATING FACILITY)

PLOT PLAN

REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION
PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES
Conference Call Included
September 1, 2022
The following members were present:
William Jester
David Peterman
Paul Davis
Glenn Gauvry
Denise Kaercher
Peter Servon
Delbert Mills
Also present were:
Sarah Keifer
Craig Eliassen

-

Director of Planning
Attorney

CS-22-04 American Holly Solar Farm: Request Conditional Use with Site Plan approval
of a Solar Facility / Public Utility located outside the Growth Zone Overlay District.
Application / Title

:

CS-22-04 / American Holly Solar

Applicant

:

American Holly Solar Farm, LLC
c/o Yannick Tamm
6940 Columbia Gateway, Ste 400
Columbia, MD 21046

Owner

:

Robert Parnell
P.O Box 3
Felton, DE 19943

Engineer

:

Century Engineering, LLC
c/o Alex Schmidt, PE
550 Bay Road
Dover, DE 19901

Comprehensive Plan Map Designation

:

Low Density Residential

Present Zoning District

:

AC (Agricultural Conservation District)

Relation to Growth Zone

:

Outside

Present Use

:

Agricultural & Residential

Proposed Use

:

Same with Public Utility
(Solar Energy Generating Facility)

Conditional Use Area

:

The conditional use area consists of
approximately 25.58 fenced acres

RPC Public Hearing Minutes
Conference Call Included
American Holly Solar
September 1, 2022
Page 2 of 12

containing a solar array spanning
approximately 6.5 acres.
Levy Court District

:

6th - Howell

School District

:

Lake Forest

Fire District

:

Felton

Area and Location

:

151.08 ± total acres (Conditional Use
Area 25.58 + acres) located on the
south side of Burnite Mill Road,
approximately 3,252 ft. east of Black
Swamp Road, and approximately 1,288
ft. west of Hopkins Cemetery Road,
west of Felton

Property Identification Number

:

SM-00-137.00-01-26.00-000

In Favor
Yannick Tamm
6940 Columbia Gateway Drive
Columbia, MD
Mr. Eliassen:

Do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

Mr. Tamm:

I do. Thank you for having us today my name is Yannick Tamm I represent EDF
Renewables, I’m a manager of project development I’m also here with Jeff Matron
and Peter Bay who are also on the project development team at EDF Renewables
and we’re also here with Dave Shapley who’s the VP of Innovation and Strategic
Initiatives at Delaware Electric Cooperative, he’ll talk a little bit about EDF’s
partnership with Delaware Electric for these three projects and then finally Frank
Miller who is a senior civil designer at Century Engineering just right across the
street from here. So our intention with the presentation is just to give a brief
introduction into who we are as EDF, our partnership with Delaware Electric and
some general solar notes and then jump into the specifics of each project starting
with, of course, American Holly. So who is EDF Renewables North America?
We’re a turnkey developer financier, ONM and EPC company for all things
renewable, so wind, solar, storage, charging ports, pretty much everything and
we’re broken up into four different business units as you can see here. From the
left it’s grid skill power, that’s the large-scale utility-scale projects that are, you
know hundreds or even thousands of acres of land (inaudible) solar wind storage.
We here represent the distribution scale power group and the main difference
there is that we develop smaller-scale projects where we site projects mainly solar
locally to meet the local demands in that area. So we typically arrange from two to
30ish mega lots in size which is, I don’t know, 20 to 50ish acres but we’ll talk a
little bit more about that going forward. And then we also have an acid
optimization group where we do some of the operations and maintenance of these
projects. A little bit of market experience; we have 35 + years of experience at the
DSP level, you know, over 1,400 megawatts of projects installed to date over
2,500 installations and you can see that we have a good footprint throughout the
country. We have relatively significant footprint in the MidAtlantic as well namely
you know, Virginia, Maryland, Delaware, we actually have two projects in later
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stages of development right now going on in Sussex County as well but these are
the three projects that we’re working with, with Delaware Electric in Kent County
that we’ll present today. Now I’d like to invite Dave from Delaware Electric to talk
about our partnership and a little bit about the importance of these projects to
DEC.
In Favor
David Shapley
P.O. Box 600
Greenwood, DE 19950
Mr. Eliassen:

Do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

Mr. Shapley:

I do. So these three projects that we’re working on is part of a four part, or four
solar projects we’re working with EDF. DEC and EDF have been, entered into a
power purchase agreement with DEC for the power that is generated. DEC also
holds an option to purchase these projects outright if we so desire. DEC is a not
for profit organization owned by the members it serves and we’re very supportive
of the local community, we served over 108,000 years in Kent and Sussex
County. These projects are specifically sized to connect to our distribution system
and serve the sow the customer load in that area, we do some electricity rates for
the members. These projects generate electricity in communities where power is
consumed and thereby reduces the need for (inaudible) transition lines so all
these projects are sized to be specific to fit within a substation load profile. They,
they provide clean renewable power (inaudible) to the end users, they approve
the resiliency of the local distribution grid and can deliver power at all and lower
cost to the end user. DEC is also dedicated to meet our RPS renewable portfolio
standards of 10% by the year 2035.

Mr. Jester:

If I can interrupt a minute, I guess you’re going to talk about, we’re only going to
talk about one project at a time as you come up and one engineering project and
remember you only have 15 minutes per project to go through what the specifics
are of that project.

Mr. Tamm:

If it’s all right with you we can provide introduction and then after that the projects
will be way shorter.

Mr. Jester:

Okay, go ahead with your first project I guess.

Mr. Tamm:

So these are the three project locations in west Kent, we can skip over this, again,
just want to reiterate distributed scale projects here. They’re sited locally, they can
provide electricity at low cost because it offsets the need for expensive
transmission upgrades and the power of the green pollution-free electricity is, is
consumed locally and it uses tens of acres as opposed to hundreds and
thousands. Generally, this is equal, for all three of the projects but American Holly
as well, this is the typical equipment that we use; there’s a racking system that
(inaudible) piles as you can see in #1 here with a torque tube so these are a
single axis trackers so they, so the solar panels will track the path of the sun
throughout the day to maximize electricity production. #2 is just a typical
polysilicon panel that we use. 3 would be the string inverters that converts the
power from DC into AC and AC is what is used on the distribution system and that
is located on the back of the racking systems that you can see in #1. #4 is just a
transformer to step up the power, this is a typical transformer that you can see
throughout the city next to commercial buildings or such and then #5 is the inner
(inaudible) equipment which are just a series of five utility poles for safety and
metering equipment that look just like the distribution lines that are along the
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street. And then we like to show this because, just to give you a sense of the
typical projects fences that we use, we don’t use the chain link fence that has
more of an industrial feel we typically like to use the (inaudible) not agricultural
style fence, just cedar posts with mesh wiring in between them which have six
inch gaps that allow for the passage of small wildlife and little critters so it fits in
nicely with the character of the landscape. Typical construction timeline for all
three of these projects, American Holly included, is about six to eight months all
the way from site prep to foundation work all the way to commissioning and
testing for one or two months before the power gets put on to the grid. And then
one last point before jumping into the projects specifics is that solar is passive use
of land; it doesn’t require much drain on the local infrastructure, on Kent County’s
infrastructure such as sewage, water, fire, emergency, anything like that. It pretty
much just generates electricity during its operation nice and quietly throughout its
25 to 35 year life. Alright so now we can jump into the specifics of the first project
American Holly Solar Farm which is in the agricultural conservation zoning district
just east of Felton.
Mr. Jester:

I believe that would be west.

Mr. Tamm:

Correct, west of Felton thank you, and this is just a brief project overview, it’s a
four megawatt AC project about 26 acres in size in the fence area off of Vernite
Road in Felton Delaware and like I said this connects directly to the Delaware
Electric Coop’s distribution lines along the street at the top with those five utility
poles that I kind of pointed out earlier. The project schedule is scheduled to start
construction assuming approval Q1 or Q2 of 2023 and then with the commercial
operation date by the end of that same year, 2023. Now if we focus our attention
to the image on the right that’s the conceptional plan, the orange or the solar
modules, the blue is that fixed not ag style fence at least seven feet tall for
security purposes and then the green along the frontage of the project is a
landscape buffer that we’re proposing to plant in areas where there isn’t already
existing vegetation that exists and I’ll talk a little bit more about that as well. And
you can see in white the access drive that provides access to, from Burnite Road
to the project. We also hired, you know Century, we’re working with Century
Engineering to do a lot of the civil work and the site work and the environmental
work so they had their certified wetlands scientists go out and do a wetland
delineation which you can see in the image on the left here. Pretty much the entire
forested area in the back is located in wetlands as well as these, these farm
ponds in the back so even though the conditional use permit technically only
requires a setback of 25 feet we understand and there’s a solar ordinance in place
and we would like to honor that and so we are setback 100 feet from all of the
wetlands and so there’s going to be no disturbance to any wetlands. We like to
show this to show kind of the environmental benefits of the project so this, the
green electricity that is pollution free electricity that is generated from this project
is equivalent to about 6,573 metric tons of carbon dioxide that would have been
admitted from traditional electricity generation sources so there’s a tremendous
environmental benefit to these projects and so what is that equivalent to? About
1200 homes electricity consumption or the carbons sequestered by almost 8,000
acres of US forest annually. So with this application we have applied for three
waivers; the first of which is a waiver to provide a sidewalk along arterial roadway
frontage of the property and the reason for this waiver request is that first of all
there’s no existing sidewalk along Burnite Mill Road and this is an agricultural area
not much foot traffic and the second reasoning would be that the project won’t
generate any additional foot traffic. We anticipate two visits per year for mowing of
the grass underneath the modules and maybe some occasional maintenance
visits by staff but that’s it. So waiver request 2 would be requirements to provide
one tree per 3,000 square feet of site area for nonresidential development and the
primary reason for this is that we’re developing this project on open field,
(inaudible) field without cutting down any trees at all. We are going to maintain 68
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acres of forest that are already on the property. Even so we’re proposing to plant
192 trees that are located in the green vegetated buffer along the front and then
the remainder will be, will be nice and screened from the existing vegetation which
I’ll talk about in the next slide. Another reason would be to, you know, the
landowner has an intention to continue farming the front half of his property so the
more trees we plant that takes away agricultural space for him to use. And I’ve
already touched on the emissions and then the last point is the excessive financial
burden that it could cause; a lot of these, the utility scale projects, the really large
ones can take advantage of the economy as a scale and can accommodate a lot
of the expensive screening requirements but these smaller projects that provide
low cost power to the community, that might, that would be economically
challenging for the project to screen for example 360 degrees around the project.
And the second point there is that trees and solar generally don’t, you know,
aren’t necessarily the most symbiotic thing just for the simple reason that, you
know, trees create shade and shade will reduce the electricity production of the
project also challenging the economics. And then the third waiver is the
requirement to provide visual and sound screening when abutting a residential
use; we are still proposing screening but, you know, we like to propose smart
screening right in areas where there isn’t already existing vegetation so again,
that’s along the front, but we’ve also received comments from staff and
recommendation from staff to screen the eastern portion where it abuts residence
so we’re going to propose addition to everything in green we’re proposing to
screen adjacent to this residential parcel down here on the eastern boundary
where that would screen the a view of this residence. We are not proposing at this
stage to screen above that due to no residences being on that property just, you
know, open field and forest land there. And then finally what happens at the end
of the project, the project is decommissioned and removed at the end of its 25 to
35 year life and may be returned to its previous use, agricultural use. And this
decommissioning cost is completely paid for by the project not the County, not the
landowner, in fact we have an agreement within the option of lease with the
landowner to remove the equipment at the end of the project life. And then finanly
as required by the solar ordinance as well we plan to develop a decommissioning
plan and provide financial assurance prior to final site plan and approval of the
project. So with that thank you for your time and…
Mr. Jester:

I have one question; I assume that the owner is keeping ownership and this is a
lease for the solar correct?

Mr. Tamm:

That is correct. We’re currently under an option to lease and then once the
development continues we enter into a lease agreement over a period of 25 to 35
years when we lease the acreage of the project.

Mr. Jester:

Yeah because the owner, you know we kind of support that as the owner would
keep it so he could go back into farming or something like that because some of
these areas are going to be a little isolated areas that aren’t developed when
other things around them in the next 25 or 35 years could be developed so that’s
why we wanted to know that.

Mr. Tamm:

Absolutely, yup.

Ms. Kaercher:

That was my one question I was going to try to make it easy and say – Is this true
of all three, are they all being leased? Just to shorten things but that’s okay.

Mr. Tamm:

That’s correct.

Ms. Kaercher:

Just kind of curious, how is the site on the piece of land shows it, I mean, is it
purposely been put back because for aesthetic reasons or is there really a solar
reason?
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Mr. Tamm:

There’s multiple reasons for that; one is aesthetic, yeah, being set back further
there’ll be less of a view shed particularly if the land owner continues to farm the
front half of the property during the crop season especially if it’s corn, that’ll create
a nice visual buffer. The second reason is also just conversation with, working
with the landowner who wants to continue to farm the front half of the properties
so we, you know, we worked with them and we accommodated that.

Ms. Kaercher:

Also (inaudible) thinking about what it looks like you don’t, the farmer won’t get as
many mosquitos because the solar farms will dealing with them with the water
back there, I’m thinking about the mosquito bites I got today. I’m just, other than
asking about the lease my only other, it’s a comment and not a question is that I’m
really happy to see this is going to be used locally. I would hope, I’m going to say
this publicly, I hope that this, that this discussion of these three projects makes the
papers so that people see that things are being done locally so I’m really happy to
see that.

Mr. Jester:

Yeah and it’s really good like you did it cause I know the farmer well and he has a
large irrigation system that he can still use like a, you know, half of it for the
irrigation and it won’t disturb it and how you’ve kept it straight across east to west.

Mr. Tamm:

Absolutely that was the intention to continue use of the irrigation system.

Mr. Gauvry:

Actually this will probably be the same question for all three so maybe we can just
get it out of the way now; when I was looking through the agency comments, I
know that DNREC has a tendency to just boiler plate this thing every time it’s
almost the same language, however there are a few issues with their language
that I, that I am interested in your response to; one has to do with the artificial
lighting and the impact that that has on wildlife and I was wondering what you’re
doing in terms of direct or indirect lighting, motion detectors, that sort of thing to
minimize the light output from this facility during evening hours, that’s one
question. I’ll just hit you with all three of them and then you can answer; the other
one has to do with security fences; they do recommend and I think you eluded to
the fact that you were going to use a certain type of fence with stranding and I
don’t know if that would be considered a deer fence or not, that’s one of the things
that they recommended having it high enough where the deer wouldn’t go over
the top but wide enough in between the strands without barbed wire where other
critters could move freely in and out and use that habitat. And the last item that I
thought they mentioned in which was a good point was; to utilize this space in
terms of the ground cover that you plant, and the indigenous plants that you
intend to use is to include a mix that is beneficial for pollenators, so those were
the three things that I think that DNREC does do on a boiler plate fashion but I do
think it’s worth considering.

Mr. Tamm:

Right, so to address the lights question first; there will not be any light admitted,
we don’t have any lights associated with this project and in terms of indirect light
that solar panels are designed to absorb sunlight and, and generate electricity
from that rather than reflect it so that is, that is also a nice feature of like indirect
light. The second question was about fencing; so yeah, we typically use that fix
not ag style fence, to electrical code it has to be at least seven feet tall so that is
relatively tall for deer, we’ve had conversations with some of our operations folks
in the past and they have rarely seen deer inside the project fence at seven feet
tall but it hasn’t been a problem because if they can jump into it they can also
jump out of it so we haven’t seen any issues with damage or anything like that
from deer getting in or trapped. And then the final question was about pollenators;
so we typically try to avoid pollenators as much as possible. Generally speaking
they take a little bit longer to grow in the ground and that can create stormwater
issues at the very early onset of the project. We typically like to use just a seed
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mix that’s, you know, used by the Department of Transportation, for example that,
that catches very well and early on and is easy, and is very easy to maintain
rather than the pollenators which can, can require more time to catch as well as
more maintenance going forward to ensure that it doesn’t die.
Mr. Gauvry:

I just wanted to know what this screening, smart screening, what is that ?

Mr. Tamm:

Well it’s just what we call basically, proposing screening in areas where there isn’t
already existing vegetation. So the intention is just not to, not to plant trees to
screen other trees essentially, that’s kind of what we’re naming smart screening.
No, no, the screening that we’re proposing is, is the evergreens as required by the
solar ordinance.

Mr. Jester:

I think she has one more question, I know we’re going over time but we’re going
to look at this over three projects so.

Ms. Kaercher:

I have a question because of what was asked about pollenators; one of your
pictures show all these beautiful, field with purple flowers so those I assume would
be pollenators. So is that like a, is that out of the question?

Mr. Tamm:

For these specific projects I believe it would be just because the economics are
tight and the intention of these are to provide low cost electricity to the community.
The photo does include some, I believe, some pollenators, I believe that is from a
project up in Michigan that we have done in the past.

Mr. Jester:

I’ve been doing a lot of research on this and reading, I know up in Lancaster
County up in Pennsylvania they’re actually have formed sheep associations
where they’re leasing sheep out to these areas and all. Do you have any solar
farms that you do animal control of vegetation?

Mr. Tamm:

Our DSP group I don’t believe does, our Distributes Solutions group, the smaller
projects, I believe there’s one at the utility scale that our parent company does. I
want to say it’s in either up state New York or in Canada but it’s something that is
relatively new to the industry as well and a little bit more difficult to manage. It’s
not as uniform of course as mowing.

Mr. Jester:

Well I understand that and we’ve had some discussion here where some of the
farmers are negative against solar farms and you know when they are able to
make more income by forming associations with these solar farms there might be
a better, a more productive talk between us and them as these things come up
more all the time. Thank you for your presentation.

Opposed
Juanita Gary Melling
5607 Hopkins Cemetery Rd.
Felton, DE
Mr. Eliassen:

Do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

Ms. Melling:

Yes sir. And it’s not so much that I’m opposed I have concerns; one of my first
questions and hopefully they’ve already researched that is; is this farm under farm
preservation and is it allowed to have commercial development on it because I
know the former owner had put a lot of his farms into farm preservation so that
was one of my questions. Another one was the magnetic field; I know magnetic
fields at some of these big electric places have caused cancer and other health
issues for the people and the animals that live around it. I plan on living there until
I die and hopefully that’s quite a few more years. I have horses and other livestock
that are in the field that butts up with the property in question. I talk with Mr. Tamm
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on the phone and voiced some of my concerns and I will thank him and he’s
already addressed one of them and when he stated that there was a buffer of
trees between that property and my property and I let him know those trees were
mine so that his company wasn’t really doing anything for me and it appears that
they have addressed that and are going to add some trees on their side of the
property. Again back to the magnetic field is the electricity they’re generating
going to go out on highwires? Is that going to be something that’s constructed? Is
it going underground, you know, how are they going to transmit it?
Mr. Jester:

Let’s address one question at a time, Sarah you can address the question about
zoning, the parcel is what zoning? As I read earlier.

Ms. Keifer:

The property is not in farmland preservation if it were solar would not be
permitted.

Mr. Jester:

Yeah it’s in AC is what it is. Now the other one about the magnetic, I guess we’ll
have to call up, call somebody back up and give your name again when you come
up.

Mr. Shapley:

As far as the EMF concern is, there is none. The solar panels take the sun from,
through a chemical reaction creates a DC voltage, then it goes to a transformer,
kind of like the transformer that serves your house, okay? So the EMF is very,
very minimal. You have more EMF from a microwave in your house than you do
from the transformer outside. And the intent is to take the electricity generate and
bring it out on overhead lines to connect to the overhead lines on that road.

Ms. Melling:

On Burnite Mill Road?

Mr. Shapley:

Yes, because there’s already overhead lines right there.

Ms. Melling:

Okay, and another concern I had and I think it was addressed but like I said I
couldn’t hear everything that was said, is noise and light because where my
property joins that property is what I call my little piece of heaven, it’s my horse
barn, it’s my horses, it’s where I take the dogs walking and I went out the other
night at 11:30 it was dead silent, not a light to be seen except the stars and my
concern is my quality of life is going to be affected by that.

Mr. Shapley:

As far as noise the solar panels make absolutely no noise at all, you only have
noise from the transformer as it’s energized which is a low hum same as the
transformer that serves your property.

Ms. Melling:

Is this low hum 24 hours a day?

Mr. Shapley:

Yes, the very low hum. There are requirements by ANSY that states the
transformer can’ t be above a certain decibel level and all of our transformers
meet that requirement that’s set for by the national standard.

Ms. Melling:

I mean, I understand you’re meeting a requirement but that’s not telling me how,
what the noise level would be.

Mr. Shapley:

It’s, it’s a slow hum like if you go outside to where your transformer is you hear
that hum…

Mr. Jester:

Do you have a decibel level that you think it runs at?

Mr. Shapley:

Not off the top of my head I would have to look at the standard.

RPC Public Hearing Minutes
Conference Call Included
American Holly Solar
September 1, 2022
Page 9 of 12

Mr. Jester:

You could supply that this week to Sarah so we could get these answers out? I
would like that supplied about how much noise it does make.

Mr. Shapley:

I can try to look it up when I sit back down.

Ms. Melling:

What’s is going to do to my property value? I mean, I plan on having it until I die
and then my kids and my grandkids because as anybody in Delaware knows land
in Delaware is getting scarce.

Mr. Jester:

What are you talking, going to talk on?

Mr. Tamm:

On the noise and the property value, I think I can do both. First of all noise; yeah,
we liken it to the humming of a refrigerator, something for the transformer, maybe
an AC unit, very small and that’s centrally located in the site so noise should not
be an issue. The inverters make a very small amount of noise as well but it’s at a
whisper level and again, shouldn’t be an issue at your property line. Up to 60
decibels at max, max volume. But again, that’s during the daytime when it’s
generating electricity, at nighttime there’s no sun so it won’t make noise. And
property value that’s been well-studied field as well and SEIA Solar Energy
Institution Association) is a good resource for the fact that it does not decrease
property value. And we’re happy to share any resources and research papers with
you if that’s something you would like.

Opposed
Trisha Hurd Nash
3652 Big Woods Road
Smyrna, DE 19977
Mr. Eliassen:

Do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

Ms. Nash:

I do. I don’t know that I’m for or opposed to this project, I’m opposed to a couple
things that I heard; the waivers, I don’t feel that there should be waiver granted for
these projects from the County. I think that as you have heard property owners
with adjacent properties are concerned. One of the comments that was made was
that they would buffer around one of the residential areas that is there now but not
further up the line. My concern is for the person that owns that property now, what
if they do want to further develop their property? They shouldn’t have expense
because the solar company didn’t have to follow procedure and didn’t have to put
a buffer in at that time. The other comment is; you’re saying, they’re saying that
trees are not conducive to solar production which I understand and that the farmer
doesn’t want to put the trees in because it will hinder his crop production. Well if
the farmer’s worried about his crop production he shouldn’t be selling to solar he
should be producing crops, so that’s not a legitimate concern ither. I am opposed
to the waivers. I’m not opposed to the sidewalk waiver I don’t know why the
County does that, I know that that’s a thing they request I think that they should be
given that waiver. The buffers; I’m opposed to giving waivers on those buffers. I
think those buffers need to be there to protect adjacent property owners, I do think
these projects are going to negatively impact property values for adjacent property
owners and I do think they disturb the character of the areas that they’re being put
in when they’re in Ag Conservation and Ag residential districts, all of them, but I
am not going to stand up here every time you present a project tonight and say
that so I’m saying it once, I hope you’ll all understand. Those specific things that I
heard in this project which if they’re presenting all three I’m going to assume that
similar things will come up and I am here one time to say…

Mr. Jester:

So you’re taking from the engineer there that you’re going to speak for all three at
one time.
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Ms. Nash:

No I’m not, well yeah if you’re going to ask for waivers on all three properties I’m
going to stand up here and say – I’m opposed to the waivers, they’re there for a
reason, they’re there to protect adjacent property owners. The line about the
farmer doesn’t want to hinder his crop production doesn’t wash out for me, you
wouldn’t be putting in solar if he was worried about crop production so he needs
to put the buffer zone in. That’s it, and I know you’re for the supplemental income,
I agree, but the buffers are there for a reason.

Opposed
Jerome Jennifer
272 (Inaudible)
Mr. Eliassen:

Do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

Mr. Jennifer:

Yes. A couple questions I have on the property; the solar panels is real huge, are
we going to be generate waste product on the solar panels once they go bad or
are they going to be, are they generated good waste or bad waste?

Mr. Jester:

I think we’ve been through this before with other and you might have the same
answer where they’re recycled. They actually are sold to second and third world
nations for their use because they’re no longer used for us but I’m not trying to
give you your spokesman but if you’d like to go up there and address it go ahead.

Mr. Tamm:

That is correct, there’s a recycleable value at the end of the project life of these
modules so as you correctly stated it can be sold to developing nations. There’s
also salvage value for the raw materials beyond just the modules so the steel for
example for the racking system is steel that can be recycled and the aluminum
around the frames. So yes, there’s a market that already exists and is only
growing to recycle and salvage the products.

Mr. Jennifer:

One other question I have; when you store this energy where does the energy
stored, are they stored in batteries?

Mr. Tamm:

Alright yeah, so we’re not proposing any storage for this project at the time so it’s,
it’s just a solar project, it is generating electricity in real time that is consumed in
real-time by the end user, nothing is stored.

Opposed
John Nichols
970 Winnow Drive
Clayton, DE
Mr. Eliassen:

Do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

Mr. Nichols:

So help me God. My comment this evening pertains to all of the proposed
projects, they all should be tabled. The ordinance, the ordinance is as they exist
and the proposed ordinances, and I apologize I think they’re still on the agenda
this evening you haven’t removed them from the agenda, the discussion of the
ordinances, is that accurate?

Mr. Jester:

Yes, they’re at the end of the agenda tonight.

Mr. Nichols:

Okay thank you, the ordinances as in existence that’s proposed are too weak.
None of these projects should be approved as conditional use they’re industrial
power plants. In your, if you approve these you’re inciting industrial power plants
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in ag land areas. They don’t belong in ag land areas and they will according to
some studies affect property values. How much remains unknown, but there are
multiple issues that I’ll talk about at greater length when we talk about the
proposed ordinances. Suffice it to say with respect to this project the developer
says they have 1400 megawatts of, of generation. If it were all solar you maybe
they’re getting 20% capacity out of it because the sun sets every day but they also
said they do wind so maybe they’re doing a little bit better than that but that’s
encompassing 1400 megawatts on thousands of acres. Now in Dover we have
the combined cycle natural gas facility which, I think, is a nameplate 325
megawatts gets dispatched 88% of the time, on about 100 acres. Now again, let
me say it, 1400 megawatts on thousands of acres, it’s a waste of space. I’ve said
this multiple times I’m going to continue to say it until someone starts to listen. The
capacity factor is very low, all of it has to be tendered, that’s the terminology that
they use in the industry, with reliable generation, in Delaware that means natural
gas. 92% of the electricity that’s generated in Delaware, according to the energy
information, energy, the EIA. According to the EIA 92% is generated by natural
gas while the coop can get this electricity temporarily when it’s available, when it’s
not available, when it’s snow covered or the days are cloudy the capacity is less.
They better be ready and able to dispatch reliable generation. So in essence we
end up paying twice; once for the unreliable intermittent solar and then again for
the reliable natural gas, in Delaware. So I’m opposed to it, it makes no sense, I’m
glad there’s engineers in the room they can contradict me if they choose, but
these are facts. What drives these projects, it’s not the sun it’s, it’s, it’s subsidies,
70% of these projects are written by subsidies. If, without the subsidies they don’t
go, they don’t go forward. I suggest that you do some research on it, you table
them and till the ordinances are improved and you can look into some of the other
issues that I’ll discuss later, if you have any questions for me I’d be happy to
respond.
Mr. Jester:

Now we’re just dealing with this project itself, do you have any comments against
it or just in broad spectrum of what you’re trying to say…

Mr. Nichols:

No, no, I’m opposed to it because, well, let me go into my status as a Delaware
Co-op customer; my electricity consumption was basically the same last month, it
went up, my delivery charges went up $10.00. I believe that has something to do
with the fact that (inaudible) customers and Co-op customers, and Delmarva
Power customers are now paying over the next five years $100,000,000,000.00 to
keep the last remaining coal fire generator, which I think is around 400
megawatts, I might be wrong there, the last remaining coal fire generator in
Millsboro. There they weren’t getting sufficient dispatch, they weren’t getting
cleared in pricing because at the time natural gas prices, but it’s more than that.
Wind is displacing it, wind power coming in at night which can bid into the grid at 0
because the production tax credit means that coal doesn’t get dispatched. So now
we’re paying $100,000,000,000.00 I oppose…

Mr. Jester:

Sir I’m not going to interrupt you but I’m going to say we’re talking about this
project we’re not working on a history lesson or anything like that.

Mr. Nichols:

Excuse me, all of these projects in, in accumulatively this one being just one small
project add to the dilemma, it’s just going to get worse as the penetration
increases and according to proposed ordinance we’re going to sacrifice 1400
acres of farmland for almost no addition to capacity. So yes I’m opposed to this
project and every other one like it and I suggest you table it until you review more
closely the, the, the deficiencies in the proposed ordinance which I’ll speak about
later.
Public hearing is closed.

